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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 
 

CAROLYN NOLEN, WINDY KELLEY, 
CARA KELLEY and PAULA LITTON, 
on behalf of themselves and all others 
similarly situated,     CASE NO.:  6:20-cv-00330-PGB-EJK 
 
 Plaintiffs,       
 
v. 
 
 
FAIRSHARE VACATION OWNERS  
ASSOCIATION;  
 
 Defendant. 
_________________________________________/ 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 

 The Plaintiffs Carolyn Nolen, Windy Kelley, Cara Kelley and Paula Litton, state the 

following as their causes of action against the above-named Defendants: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 

U.S.C. § 1332(d), the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”) because: (1) “the matter in 

controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs,” (2) the action 

is pled as a class action involving more than 100 putative class members, and (3) “any member of 

a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a State different from any defendant.” 

2. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because the 

Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in this district, a substantial part of the property that 

is the subject of this action is situated in this district, and a substantial portion of Defendant’s 
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conduct that forms the basis of this action occurred in Florida, including within the boundaries of 

this district. 

THE PARTIES 

3. Fairshare Vacation Owners Association (“Defendant” or “Trustee”), is an Arkansas 

corporation with its principal place of business located in Orlando, Florida.   

4. Plaintiffs Carolyn Nolen, Windy Kelley, Cara Kelley and Paula Litton, are resident 

citizens of the State of Alabama.  

THE TRUST 

 5. The Fairshare Vacation Plan Use Management Trust Agreement (the “Trust”) is 

believed to have become effective on June 26, 1991.  Through the years, the Trust has been 

amended.  The current version of the Trust became effective on March 14, 2008.  (Attached hereto 

as Exhibit A is a copy of the Trust). 

6. The Trust was formed in Arkansas and is governed by Arkansas law.  See Ex. A, 

Art. 2 § 2.03. 

7. Defendant serves as the Trustee for the Trust. 

8. Under the terms of the Trust, “Trust Properties” consist of “all Property Interests 

subjected to this Trust Agreement and all use Rights in Property Interests conveyed, assigned or 

subjected to this Trust Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Trust Agreement. . .”.  See 

Ex. A, Art. 1. 

9. The Trust defines a “Property Interest” as “an interest in a Vacation Unit or 

Vacation Plan or an undivided interest in on or more Vacation Units, each of which interests or 

the Use Rights therein is/are subjected to this Trust Agreement. . .”  See id. 
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10. Trust Properties are typically acquired by the Trust through timeshare sales 

transactions conducted by an affiliated entity of the Trustee known as Wyndham Vacation Resorts, 

Inc. (“WVR”).  When a consumer purchases a timeshare interest, WVR requires the timeshare 

interest or use rights be assigned to the Trust.  Only through this assignment can a timeshare owner 

fully participate in WVR’s timeshare program known as “Club Wyndham Plus.”   

11. By virtue of assigning a timeshare interest or use rights to the Trust, timeshare 

owners become Beneficiaries of the Trust.  See Ex. A, Art. 1.  As the Trustee, Defendant owes to 

all Beneficiaries, including timeshare owners, the duty of undivided loyalty.  Further, as the 

Trustee, Defendant is prohibited from entering into any transaction with an affiliated company and 

from using Trust Properties to profit for itself or its affiliates. 

WVR’S TIMESHARE BUSINESS 
 

12. WVR sells timeshares, finances timeshare purchases, and manages timeshare 

properties. 

13. WVR also sells “upgrades” to existing timeshare owners.  Upgrades to existing 

timeshare owners constitute approximately 70% of WVR’s timeshare sales during the proposed 

class period.    

14. Most timeshare owners finance a portion of their initial timeshare purchase and any 

subsequent upgrades.   

DEFENDANT’S AFFILIATED RELATIONSHIP WITH WYNDHAM VACATION 
RESORTS AND WYNDHAM CONSUMER FINANCE, INC. 

 
15.  The Trustee is governed by a board of directors.  This board of directors is 

composed solely of high ranking WVR executives.  Serving as the board of directors for the 

Trustee, these WVR executives control the activity and decision-making authority of the Trustee.      
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16. Despite the existence of a clear conflict of interest and the Arkansas Trust Code’s 

prohibition on these types of agreements, Defendant allows its affiliates WVR and Wyndham 

Consumer Finance, Inc. (“WCF”) to serve as the exclusive lender and servicer of all timeshare 

loans involving Trust Properties.  WVR and WCF charge the Beneficiaries of the Trust (i.e. 

timeshare purchasers) above-market interest rates and loan servicing fees.    

17.  The Trustee also allows its affiliate WVR to securitize large pools of consumer time 

share loans which it then sells.  The income generated by this securitization practice is used to 

finance WVR’s operations.  The security for the pools consists of timeshare loans on Trust 

Properties.  Yet, none of the income from the securitization agreements is shared with the Trust’s 

Beneficiaries, including Plaintiffs 

18. In further disregard of the prohibition on a trustee transacting business with an 

affiliate, Defendant entered into a Management Agreement with WVR that allows WVR to serve 

as the exclusive “Plan Manager” for all Trust Properties.  See Ex. A at Art. 6.03; see also 

Management Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B.  In a clear conflict of interest, the 

Management Agreement delegates all of the “powers and authority” of the Trustee to WVR as the 

Plan Manager.  See Ex. C at § 5.1(a). 

EXCESSIVE FEES AND SURPLUS FUNDS 

19.    As Trustee and as Plan Manager, Defendant and WVR collect a variety of fees 

from Beneficiaries of the Trust, including Plaintiffs, that constitute profit to the Trustee and to 

WVR. 

20. Specifically, all beneficiaries – except WVR – must pay a “Fairshare Plus 

Assessment,” consisting of the sum of a “Program Fee” and an “OA Fee.”  The Program Fee is set 

by WVR and approved by the Trustee.  The Trust provides that the Program Fee shall amount to 
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what is needed to cover the cost of the operation and administration of the Trust.  The Program 

Fee is also used to cover the operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Trust’s 

properties.  Exh. A, Art. X.  Upon information and belief, the Program Fee greatly exceeds the 

amount necessary to cover the cost of the operation and administration of the Trust and the 

operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Trust Properties.  Upon information and 

belief, the Program Fee results in substantial profits to the Trustee. 

21. Through the collection of excess fees and revenue from Plaintiffs and the Class, the 

Trustee has accumulated a positive Trust fund balance.  This surplus trust fund balance is currently 

held by Defendant exclusively for its own use.  Despite accumulating substantial profits from the 

Trust and holding those funds for its own use, Defendant continues to increase the amount of fees 

and revenues it collects from Plaintiffs and the class.   

  THE NOLEN TRANSACTION 

22. On July 31, 2015, Plaintiff Carolyn Nolen, and her former husband, purchased a 

timeshare from WVR (Contract Number 00126-1518153).  A copy of Ms. Nolen’s timeshare 

contract is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

23. The total cost of Ms. Nolen’s purchase was $21,413.80.  Ms. Nolen paid for her 

timeshare purchase using a Wyndham Rewards Visa credit card which was issued to her in 

conjunction with her timeshare purchase.  After an initial six month period, the interest rate for 

this credit card was 14.99%. 

24. Ms. Nolen’s timeshare interest or the use rights therein were assigned to the Trust.  

This assignment resulted in Defendant gaining complete control over Ms. Nolen’s timeshare and 

Ms. Nolen becoming a beneficiary of the Trust.   

THE KELLEY/LITTON TRANSACTION 
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25. On January 5, 2016, Plaintiffs Windy Kelley, Cara Kelley, and Paula Litton 

purchased a timeshare from WVR (Contract Number 00219-1600048).  A copy of the 

Kelley/Litton timeshare contract is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

26. The cash purchase price for the Kelleys’ and Ms. Litton’s timeshare contract was 

$207,047.98.  The Kelleys and Ms. Litton financed $62,156.30 through WVR at an 11.49% interest 

rate.  The resulting loan was serviced by WCF. 

27. The Kelleys and Ms. Litton assigned their timeshare interest or the use rights 

therein to the Trust.  This assignment resulted in Defendant gaining complete control over the 

Kelleys’ and Ms. Litton’s timeshare and the Kelleys and Ms. Litton becoming Beneficiaries of the 

Trust.   

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 
 

28. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23 and propose the following class: 

29. The Proposed Class is defined as: 
  

All persons and entities who are citizens of the United States of America and 
who on or after March 14, 2008:  (1) purchased a timeshare with a Property 
Interest (or the Use Rights therein) subject to the Fairshare Vacation Plan Use 
Management Trust or (2) purchased (including upgrading or refinancing) a 
Property Interest (or the Use Rights therein) previously subject to the 
Fairshare Vacation Plan Use Management Trust. 

30. Excluded from the proposed Class are members of the judiciary assigned to this 

case, entities currently in bankruptcy, entities whose obligations have been discharged in 

bankruptcy, and governmental entities. Also excluded from the above Class is Defendant, 

including any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, are a parent or subsidiary, or 

which is controlled by Defendant, as well as the officers, directors, affiliates, legal representatives, 

heirs, predecessors, successors, and assigns of Defendant.   
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31. This action is brought and may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a),(b)(1),(2),(3) and (c)(4).  This action satisfies the numerosity, commonality, 

typicality, adequacy, predominance, and superiority requirements of these rules.   

32. Plaintiffs maintain the right to create additional subclasses or classes, if necessary, 

and to revise this definition to maintain a cohesive class that does not require individual inquiry to 

determine liability. 

33. The exact number of class members is unknown to Plaintiffs at this time, but such 

information can be ascertained through appropriate discovery, specifically from records 

maintained by the Defendants.  Upon information and belief, the number of putative members of 

the class exceeds 1,000 persons and entities. 

EXISTENCE AND PREDOMINANCE OF 
COMMON QUESTIONS OF LAW AND FACT 

 
34. There are common questions of law and fact common and of general interest to the 

Class.  These common questions of law and fact predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual members of the class.  Such common questions include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

a.  Whether the Trustee violated its duties under Arkansas Trust law; 

b. Whether the Trustee pays itself unreasonable fees to serve as Trustee for the 

Trust; 

c. Whether a conflict of interest exists between the Trustee and the 

Beneficiaries of the Trust; 

d. Whether the Trust produces profit for the Trustee or for its affiliated entities 

against the interests of all other Beneficiaries of the Trust; 

e. Whether the Trustee breached its fiduciary duties; 
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f. Whether the Trustee or its affiliated entities profited from transactions 

involving Trust Properties; 

g. Whether Plaintiffs and class members are entitled to class relief as requested 

herein. 

 TYPICALITY AND NUMEROSITY 

35. The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Class.  The Trustee’s 

common course of conduct caused Plaintiffs and all proposed class members the same harm.  The 

Trustee’s conduct caused Plaintiffs and each class member economic harm.  Upon information 

and belief, the total number of members of the proposed class exceeds 1,000 members and is so 

numerous that separate joinder of each member is impracticable. 

ADEQUATE REPRESENTATION 

36. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class 

and have no interests antagonistic to those of other class members, and the Court should appoint 

Plaintiffs as the class representative.  Plaintiffs have retained class counsel competent to prosecute 

class actions, and the Court should appoint Plaintiffs’ counsel as Class Counsel. 

SUPERIORITY 

37. The Class may be properly maintained under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23.  A class action is 

superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy since 

individual joinder of all members of the class is impracticable.  The interests of judicial economy 

favor adjudicating the claims for the class rather than on an individual basis.  The class action 

mechanism provides the benefit of unitary adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive 

supervision by a single court. 
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38. Questions of law and fact predominate over any questions affecting only individual 

members. 

COUNT 1 
Declaratory Judgment 

 
39. Plaintiffs adopt and incorporate the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 38, as if fully set forth herein.  

40. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, this Court has jurisdiction to declare the 

rights and other legal relations of the parties in dispute.  

41. An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Plaintiffs and the Class, 

on the one hand, and Defendant, on the other, concerning the respective rights and duties of the 

parties under the Trust.  

42. Plaintiffs and the Class contend that Defendant breached its fiduciary duties, 

including the duty of loyalty and the duties against self-dealing and profiting. 

43. Plaintiffs, therefore, seek a declaration of the parties’ respective rights and duties 

under the Arkansas Trust Code and the Trust.  Specifically, Plaintiffs seek a declaration that: 

a. the Trust is governed by Arkansas law; 

b. Plaintiffs are Beneficiaries of the Trust; 

c. the Trustee owes a fiduciary duty to the Beneficiaries of the Trust; 

d. the fiduciary duty owed to the Beneficiaries by the Trustee included not profiting 

from property in the Trust; 

e. the fiduciary duty owed to the Beneficiaries by the Trustee included not setting up 

arrangements with related entities which allowed those related entities to profit 

from property in the Trust or from the Beneficiaries of the Trust;  

f. the Trustee has violated its duties.  
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44. Under such declaration, the aforementioned conduct should be deemed unlawful 

and in material breach of the Arkansas Trust Code and the express terms of the Trust.  Thereupon, 

the Court should order removal of the Trustee pursuant to Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-1001(b)(7) and 

§ 28-73-706(b)(1).  

COUNT 2 
Violation of the Arkansas Trust Code § 28-73-802 

(Management Agreement with WVR) 
 
45. Plaintiffs adopt and incorporate the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 38, as if set forth fully herein.  

46. The Arkansas Trust Code requires that “[a] trustee shall administer the trust solely 

in the interests of the beneficiaries.”  Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802(a) (emphasis added).  A trustee 

has an obligation to avoid any transaction that is tainted by a potential conflict of interest. 

47. The Arkansas Trust Code presumes any transaction between a corporate trustee and 

an entity related to the corporate trustee that involves trust property to be a self-dealing transaction 

affected by a conflict of interest:  

(c)  A sale, encumbrance, or other transaction involving the investment or 
management of trust property is presumed to be affected by a conflict between 
personal and fiduciary interests if it is entered into by the trustee with: 
 

(4)  a corporation or other person or enterprise in which the 
trustee, or a person who owns a significant interest in the trustee, 
has an interest that might affect the trustee’s best judgment. 
 

Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802(c)(4). 

 48. The Trustee has violated Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802 by entering into transactions 

with affiliated entities involving Trust Properties.   

49. Defendant violated Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802, by entering into a management 

agreement for the management of Trust Properties with its affiliate WVR.   
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50.  Defendant entered into a management agreement with its affiliate WVR on January 

1, 1996.  The management agreement provides that WVR will manage and operate all Trust 

Properties.  Further, the management agreement grants “all of the [Trustee’s] powers and 

authority” to WVR. 

51. WVR receives a management fee from the Trustee in exchange for its services.  

These management fees are assessed against the Beneficiaries of the Trust and then paid to WVR 

under the terms of the management agreement. 

52. The Trustee’s decision to allow its affiliate (WVR) to manage Trust Properties is 

not for the benefit of the Trust’s Beneficiaries.     

 53. The management agreement between the Trustee and WVR constitutes a self-

dealing transaction in violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802 because WVR and the Trustee are 

affiliated entities.  As affiliated entities, the management agreement is presumed to be affected by 

a conflict of interest that financially harms Beneficiaries of the Trust, including Plaintiffs. 

 54. The Trustee’s self-dealing management agreement with WVR has resulted in 

Plaintiffs and other Trust Beneficiaries being harmed by paying excessive fees to the Trustee in 

order to enable the Trustee to pay its affiliate WVR.   

 55. The Trustee has neglected its duty of undivided loyalty to the Trust’s Beneficiaries 

by entering into this self-dealing agreement with an affiliated entity that involves Trust Properties. 

      56. As a result of the Trustee’s self-dealing in violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-

802, Plaintiffs and members of the putative class have been financially harmed.    

  WHEREFORE,  premises considered, Plaintiffs and members of the proposed class seek 

the protection and benefit of any and all remedies afforded under Ark. Code §§ 28-73-1001 and 

28-73-1002 and pray for a judgment against the Trustee for, among other things, disgorgement of 
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profits, the tracing of trust property wrongfully disposed of and recovering the property or its 

proceeds, removal of the Trustee, compensatory damages in excess of the jurisdiction of this Court, 

for punitive damages, for costs of suit and for such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

just and proper. 

COUNT 3 
Violation of the Arkansas Trust Code § 28-73-802 

(Financing Agreements) 
 
57. Plaintiffs adopt and incorporate the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 38, as if set forth fully herein.  

58. The Arkansas Trust Code requires that “[a] trustee shall administer the trust solely 

in the interests of the beneficiaries.”  Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802(a) (emphasis added).  A trustee 

has an obligation to avoid any transaction that is tainted by a potential conflict of interest. 

59. The Arkansas Trust Code presumes any transaction between a corporate trustee and 

an entity related to the corporate trustee that involves trust property to be a self-dealing transaction 

affected by a conflict of interest:  

(c)  A sale, encumbrance, or other transaction involving the investment or 
management of trust property is presumed to be affected by a conflict between 
personal and fiduciary interests if it is entered into by the trustee with: 
 

(4)  a corporation or other person or enterprise in which the 
trustee, or a person who owns a significant interest in the trustee, 
has an interest that might affect the trustee’s best judgment. 
 

Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802(c)(4). 

 60. The Trustee has violated Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802 by entering into transactions 

with affiliated entities involving Trust Properties.   
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 61. The Trustee has violated Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802 by granting affiliated entities 

WVR and WCF the exclusive right to finance, re-finance, and service all loans taken by 

Beneficiaries of the Trust on Trust Properties.  

 62. All financed timeshare purchases are financed through the Trustee’s affiliate WVR.  

The resulting loans are all serviced by the Trustee’s affiliate WCF. 

 63. The Trustee’s conduct in entering into agreements with WVR and WCF regarding 

the financing and servicing of Trust Properties violates Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802 because WVR 

and WCF are affiliated with the Trustee.  As affiliated entities, the agreements between the Trustee 

and WVR and WCF are presumed to be affected by a conflict of interest. 

      64. As a result of the Trustee’s self-dealing agreements with WVR and WCF in 

violation of Ark. Code Ann. §  28-73-802, Plaintiffs and members of the putative class have been 

financially harmed by being forced to pay excessive interest rates and loan servicing fees to WVR 

and WCF.    

 65. The Trustee has neglected its duty of undivided loyalty to the Trust’s Beneficiaries 

by entering into this self-dealing agreement with affiliated entities that involves Trust Properties. 

      66. As a result of the Trustee’s self-dealing in violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-

802, Plaintiffs and members of the putative class have been financially harmed.    

  WHEREFORE,  premises considered, Plaintiffs and members of the proposed class seek 

the protection and benefit of any and all remedies afforded under Ark. Code §§ 28-73-1001 and 

28-73-1002 and pray for a judgment against the Trustee for, amongst other things, disgorgement 

of profits, the tracing of trust property wrongfully disposed of and recovering the property or its 

proceeds, removal of the Trustee, compensatory damages in excess of the jurisdiction of this Court, 
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for punitive damages, for costs of suit and for such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

just and proper. 

COUNT 4 
Violation of the Arkansas Trust Code § 28-73-802 

(Securitization) 
 
67. Plaintiffs adopt and incorporate the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 38, as if set forth fully herein.  

68. The Arkansas Trust Code requires that “[a] trustee shall administer the trust solely 

in the interests of the beneficiaries.”  Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802(a) (emphasis added).  A trustee 

has an obligation to avoid any transaction that is tainted by a potential conflict of interest. 

69. The Arkansas Trust Code presumes any transaction between a corporate trustee and 

an entity related to the corporate trustee that involves trust property to be a self-dealing transaction 

affected by a conflict of interest:  

(c)  A sale, encumbrance, or other transaction involving the investment or 
management of trust property is presumed to be affected by a conflict between 
personal and fiduciary interests if it is entered into by the trustee with: 
 

(4)  a corporation or other person or enterprise in which the 
trustee, or a person who owns a significant interest in the trustee, 
has an interest that might affect the trustee’s best judgment. 
 

Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802(c)(4). 

 70. The Trustee has violated Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-802 by entering into transactions 

with affiliated entities involving Trust Properties.   

71. The Trustee allows its affiliate WVR to securitize large pools of consumer time 

share loans which it then sells.  The income generated by this securitization practice is used to 

finance WVR’s operations.  The security for the pools consists of timeshare loans on Trust 

Properties.     
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72. None of the income from the securitization agreements is shared with the Trust’s 

Beneficiaries, including Plaintiffs.     

73. The securitization practice places the interest of the Trustee and its affiliate in direct 

conflict with the Trust’s Beneficiaries.  The securitization practice motivates the Trustee and its 

affiliates to finance timeshare purchases made by the Trust’s Beneficiaries at above-market interest 

rates.  These above-market interest rate loans are more enticing to outside investors because of the 

potentially large returns on investment.   

 74. The Trustee’s conduct in facilitating the securitization practices violates Ark. Code 

Ann. § 28-73-802 because WVR is affiliated with the Trustee and the securitization agreements 

involve Trust Properties.  As affiliated entities, the agreements between the Trustee and WVR are 

presumed to be affected by a conflict of interest. 

 75. The Trustee has neglected its duty of undivided loyalty to the Trust’s Beneficiaries 

by entering into this self-dealing agreement with an affiliated entity that involves Trust Properties. 

      76. As a result of the Trustee’s self-dealing in violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-

802, Plaintiffs and members of the putative class have been financially harmed.    

  WHEREFORE,  premises considered, Plaintiffs and members of the proposed class seek 

the protection and benefit of any and all remedies afforded under Ark. Code §§ 28-73-1001 and 

28-73-1002 and pray for a judgment against the Trustee for, amongst other things, disgorgement 

of profits, the tracing of trust property wrongfully disposed of and recovering the property or its 

proceeds, removal of the Trustee, compensatory damages in excess of the jurisdiction of this Court, 

for punitive damages, for costs of suit and for such other and further relief as the Court may deem 

just and proper. 
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COUNT 5 
Violations of the Arkansas Trust Code § 28-73-1003 

 
76. Plaintiffs adopt and incorporate the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 38, as if set forth fully herein. 

77. The Arkansas Trust Code prohibits a trustee from profiting in its role as trustee. 

78. Arkansas Trust Code § 28-73-1003 expressly prohibits a trustee from profiting 

from the use of trust property, even absent a breach of trust. 

79. The Trustee has violated Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-1003 by accumulating a positive 

trust fund balance through excess fees and revenue collected from Plaintiffs and the class.  The 

Program Fee paid by Plaintiffs and the class constitutes some or all of the Trust’s fund balance.  

This surplus trust fund balance is currently held by Defendant exclusively for its own use.    

80. Despite accumulating substantial profits from the Trust and holding those funds 

for its own use, Defendant continues to increase the amount of fees and revenues it collects from 

Plaintiffs and the class.  None of the surplus trust fund balance held by the Trustee has been 

shared with or credited to Plaintiffs or the class; even though, all of the surplus trust fund balance 

was generated from revenue received from the Trust’s Beneficiaries. 

81. The Trustee’s conduct in profiting from the Trust’s Beneficiaries and holding the 

profits for its own use violates Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-1003. 

82. As a result of the Trustee’s violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 28-73-1003, Plaintiffs 

and members of the putative class have been financially harmed.      

WHEREFORE,  premises considered, Plaintiffs and members of the proposed class seek 

the protection and benefit of any and all remedies afforded under Ark. Code §§ 28-73-1001 and 

28-73-1002 and pray for a judgment against the Trustee for, among other things, the tracing of 

trust property wrongfully disposed of and recovering the property or its proceeds, disgorgement 
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of profits, removal of the Trustee, compensatory damages in excess of the jurisdiction of this 

Court, for punitive damages, for costs of suit and for such other and further relief as the Court 

may deem just and proper. 

COUNT 6 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

 
 83. Plaintiffs adopt and incorporate the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 38, as if set forth fully herein. 

84 By virtue of serving as the Trustee, Defendant owes a fiduciary duty to the 

Beneficiaries of the Trust.   

85. The Trustee breached its fiduciary duty by:  

(a)  permitting an affiliated entity, WVR, to finance and re-finance Trust 

Properties; 

(b)  allowing an affiliated entity, WVR, to serve as the Plan Manager for the Trust; 

(c) allowing an affiliated entity, WCF, to service loans involving Trust Properties; 

(d)  entering into a management agreement with an affiliated entity, WVR; 

(e) allowing an affiliated entity, WVR, to securitize loans on Trust Properties for 

its own benefit; 

(e) exempting an affiliated entity, WVR, from paying certain fees including the 

Fairshare Plus Assessment; 

(f)  collecting excessive fees, including the Program Fee, and failing to return any 

surplus Trust Fund Balance to the Beneficiaries of the Trust;  

(g) by failing to share profits from the Trust with the Beneficiaries of the Trust. 

 86. The Trustee consciously and deliberately disregarded the duty it owed to Plaintiffs 

and the Beneficiaries of the Trust.   
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 87. As a proximate consequence of said breaches, Plaintiffs and members of the 

putative class have suffered the financial losses described above. 

 WHEREFORE, premises considered, Plaintiff and members of the proposed class pray for 

a judgment against the Trustee for compensatory damages in excess of the jurisdiction of this 

Court, for punitive damages, for costs of suit and for such other and further relief as the Court may 

deem just and proper. 

Dated: October 8, 2020    Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ John A. Yanchunis    
JOHN A. YANCHUNIS – Trial Counsel 
Florida Bar No. 324681 
jyanchunis@ForThePeople.com 
PATRICK A. BARTHLE II 
Florida Bar No. 99286 
pbarthle@ForThePeople.com 
MORGAN & MORGAN  
COMPLEX LITIGATION GROUP 
201 N. Franklin Street, 7th Floor 
Tampa, Florida 33602 
Telephone: (813) 223-5505 
Facsimile: (813) 223-5402 
 
James M. Terrell, Admitted Pro Hac Vice 

jterrell@mtattorneys.com 
Rodney E. Miller, Admitted Pro Hav Vice 

rmiller@mtattorneys.com 
METHVIN, TERRELL, YANCEY, 
STEPHENS & MILLER, P.C. 
2201 Arlington Ave. S 
Birmingham, AL 35205 
Telephone: (205) 939-0199 
Facsimile:  (205) 939-0399 
 
Bradford D. Barron, Admitted Pro Hac Vice 

bbarron@barronlawfirmok.com 
The Barron Law Firm, PLLC 
P.O. Box 369 
Claremore, Ok 74018 
Telephone: (918) 341-8402 
Facsimile:  (918) 515-4691 
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Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I certify that on October 8, 2020, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the 
Court using the CM/ECF system, to be served on the following: 
 
Chris S. Coutroulis 
Kevin P. McCoy 
D. Mathew Allen 
Nathaniel G. Foell 
4221 West Boy Scout Blvd., Suite 1000 
Tampa, FL 33607 
ccoutroulis@carltonfields.com 
kmccoy@carltonfields.com 
mallen@carltonfields.com 
nfoell@carltonfields.com 
    
       /s/ John A. Yanchunis    
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SECURITY AGREEMENT

Member Number
Contract Number
Contract Date

00219-1600048
01-05-2016

®CLUBWYNDHAM ACCESS VACATION OWNERSHIP PLAN
RETAIL INSTALLMENT CONTRACT

PURCHASE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
(Florida)

Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Seller"), agrees to sell to WINDY KELLEY PAULA LITTON and CARA
KELLEY ("Owner") a membership interest ("Ownership") in PTVO Owners Association, Inc., a non-stock, non-profit Delaware corporation
("Association"), which Ownership includes the right to participate in the ClubWyndham Access Vacation Ownership Plan ("Club") and the right to
use and occupy Club Accommodations. If more than one person executes this Agreement as Owner, the liability of each Owner under this Agreement
shall be joint and several. These rights are denominated in Points and Owner agrees to purchase the Ownership for a purchase price of $206,668.98
(the "Purchase Price") on the following terms and conditions:

Points consisting of the following:

Perpetual Points: 1,264,000 Annual X

"Initial Use Year": January 1 following the Contract Date above.

A. BENEFITS AND NATURE F OW ERSH P

1. Ownership. Owner is a member of the Association, and is entitled: (a to use oints t reserve e use of accommodations in the Club ("Club
Accommodations"), (b) to vote for directors of the Associatio (c) to vote on majo decisio s the Association, and (d) through the Club and the
Association, to participate in the ownership of the assets of the A ociation. t the clos g of the purchase of the Ownership as set forth in Section 32
below, (i) Owner will receive an Ownership Certific e evidencing th Owne hip (which will delineate, among other things, Owner's Points), and (ii)
Owner's name and the other information concerning he Ownership will e e tered into the permanent records of the Association ("Club Ownership
Register"). The Seller is Wyndham Vacation Re rts, Inc., 6277 Sea H bor Dr. Orlando, FL 32821. Each Ownership constitutes a Florida
timeshare estate under Chapter 721, Florida atute The Club is a multi-site timeshare plan called ClubWyndham Access Vacation Ownership Plan.
The address of this timeshare an 6277 Sea arbor Dr. Orlando, FL 32821. Refer to the ClubWyndham Access Public Offering Statement
("Public Offering Statem nt") accom nying this A reement for a list of Club Accommodations which are under construction (if any) and estimated
completion dates.

2. Duration of Owners ip. O nership shall be effective from the date on which the Closing described in Section 32 below occurs Owner may use
Points to o tain reservatio s and ther Club benefits starting with Owner's Initial Use Year as set forth above. Ownership shall be perpetual.

3. Transfe bility of Ow ership. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions and Grant and
Reservation f Easement for ClubWyndham Access Vacation Ownership Plan ("Declaration"), the Ownership (and the Points) may be transferred
entirely or partia y t any time during their term and without limitation to the number of transfers, through sale, gift, inheritance, dissolution of
marriage or by any operation of law, subject to the following terms: (a) a reasonable Ownership transfer fee has been paid to the Association; (b) all
payment or charges due to the Association, Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder (as those terms are defined in Section 16) of this Agreement are
curre ; (c) the Points transferred and the Points retained, if any, must each be enough Points to satisfy the then Minimum Points Requirement as
established by Seller; (d) the Association must consent to the transfer which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; (e)
the transfer must be entered in the Club Ownership Register; (f) all aspects of the transfer must comply with applicable law; and (g) if any financed
amounts are still owing to Seller or to any Holder or Co-Holder, (i) the Owner must obtain the written consent of the Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder
to such proposed transfer which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, (ii) the transferee must satisfy the then current
credit requirements of the Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder, and (iii) transferee may be charged a reasonable financing transfer fee. Owner and Seller
each acknowledge and agree that Seller has entered into this Agreement in consideration of and reliance upon the creditworthiness and reliability of
Owner.

B. ACCOMMODATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS

4. Club Accommodations. Owner shall have access to all existing and future Club Accommodations and the properties within which those Club
Accommodations are located ("Club Properties"), as well as all other accommodations owned or operated by or associated with Club, wherever
located. Provided however the location and specific nature of the Club Accommodations shall be subject to change in accordance with the Club
Instruments (as defined below).

Page 1 of 7ClubFL No. 2001/Rev. 3-15

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0B77C0EA-13C3-41F5-8D0B-15A4FC2F0354
THIS IS A COPY
This is a copy view of the Authorative Copy held

by the designated custodian

COPY VIEW

Case 6:20-cv-00330-PGB-EJK   Document 45-4   Filed 10/08/20   Page 2 of 10 PageID 515



llllllll2222222222222

Contract Number 00219-1600048

5. Participation of Owner in Association Governance. The Articles of Incorporation, By-laws, and Regulations of the Association and the
Declaration provide, among other things, for: (a) meetings of, and votes by the parties who hold Ownership in the Association (called "Owners"); (b)
election of directors; and (c) use rights in Club Accommodations.

6. Control of Club Accommodations by the Association. The Association or one or more Trusts each of whose beneficiary is the Association, shall
hold the deed or the lease to each Club Accommodation, free of the effects of debt encumbrances (or with a non-disturbance agreement in place), and
subject to the Declaration which, among other things: (a) is recorded or filed against each Club Accommodation; (b) provides for dedication of the
Club Accommodation to the Club; and (c) establishes the Points as the currency of use in the Club. Notwithstanding the Association's or a Trust's
ownership of Club Accommodations in the various Club Properties, in many instances, not all of the accommodations at a Club Property will be or
become Club Accommodations and therefore, the Association will have limited, if any, right to control that Club Property.

7. Power of Attorney. The power to direct the Trustee as to all matters shall be exercised solely by the Association and by the Seller acting in
accordance with the Club Instruments. The Association and the Seller may exercise that power of direction without the consent of the Owner. To the
extent that the joinder of the Owner may be required to validate any act or thing done by the Association or the Seller pursuant to this power of
direction, each Owner, by entry in the Club Ownership Register, grants to the Association and to the Seller a special power of attorney for these
purposes, to the extent permitted by applicable law, coupled with an interest that cannot be revoked as set forth in Sectio 7.5 of the Declaration.

8. The Club. The Club is governed by, among other things, the Declaration; the Articles of Incorporation nd By-la for the Association; Trust
Agreements, if any; and the regulations, as each may be lawfully amended or supplemented from time to tim (al such overning documents, as so
amended, "Club Instruments"). In addition, because many Club Accommodations are located within lub Pro erties at re themselves operated as
condominiums or timeshare programs, those Club Accommodations are subject to declarati s, articles of corp ration and y-laws for the association
managing such property and the rules and regulations of the condominium and/or meshare programs ein operated thereon ("Club Property
Instruments"). The Club Instruments, together with the Club Property Instruments, wi govern any aspects f wnership, use and operation of the
Club and the Club Accommodations, including, without limitation, (a) eserv tions; ) he number of persons permitted to occupy each Club
Accommodation; (c) guest policies; (d) fees; (e) rental of Club Accommoda ons by Owner and by the Club and others; (f) charges for use of specific
facilities at each Club Property; (g) personal conduct and behavior; (h) check-i and c eck-o times; and (i) care and maintenance of Club
Accommodations and related facilities and amenities. The Ow ership con yed by is Agr ment shall be held by Owner subject to each of the
provisions of the Club Instruments and the Club Property Instrumen

9. Development and Management of Club. Selle has developed the C ub nd has caused accommodations in Club Properties to be transferred to
the Association or a Trust for the benefit f the Ass iation in exchange for the proceeds of sale as well as exclusive marketing rights, and the right to
add additional properties. Pursuant to a Manag me Agreement between Seller and/or one or more affiliates of Seller, and the Association, Seller or
such affiliate will also manag he Clu the Associa on and those Club Properties which are not part of other timeshare or condominium programs.

C. POINTS USE

10. Club P ogram. The enefi and obligations of Ownership are determined by the number and types of Points assigned to the Ownership.

(a) Use. P nts may be us to reserve Club Accommodations that are available through the Club on a space available basis. The number of Points
required fo ccupancy of ny Club Accommodation will be based on numerous factors, including, without limitation, the season, location, unit size
and type, and d y of th week.

(b) Issua ce. Points are renewed annually (or, in the case of Biennial Points, every other year) throughout the term of the Ownership, at the beginning
of Own s Use Year, in the total number of Points purchased by Owner.

(c) Additional Points. Owner may purchase additional Points from the Seller at any time after the date of this Agreement, subject to the following: (i)
the Points are available; (ii) Owner is not in default under this Agreement; (iii) the Owner is in good standing with the Association; (iv) the then
current price is paid; and (v) if Seller finances the purchase, Owner satisfies Seller's then current credit requirements.

D. QUALIFICATIONS AND CONDITIONS TO PURCHASE ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP

11. Legal Capacity. Owner represents that Owner is a person or entity with the legal capacity to enter into this Agreement.

12. Non-Investment Purchase. Owner represents that Owner is purchasing an Ownership for the purpose of recreational and social use, and not for
financial profit.

E. CONTRACTUAL STANDARDS

13. Liability Limitations. Owner agrees that Owner and Owner's family or guests assume all risks of loss or damage to persons or property in using
the Club Accommodations and the Club Properties in which they are located, except that this limitation of liability shall not apply in cases of
negligence of the Seller, Manager or Association. Owner also agrees to maintain liability and property damage insurance in connection with any motor
vehicle(s) brought to the Club Accommodations, in amounts customarily carried on such vehicle(s).
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14. Owner Default. Owner shall be in default under this Agreement if Owner fails to pay on time, keep any promise, or fulfill any agreement or
obligation contained herein or in any of the documents or instruments referenced herein. Without limiting the scope of the prior sentence, obligations
include obtaining the written consent of Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder to transfer any part of the Ownership which is subject to outstanding
amounts financed and owed to Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder. In the event of a default by Owner, Owner shall not be entitled to reserve, use, or
occupy any Club Accommodation, or to exercise any other rights, benefits, or privileges appurtenant to Owner's Ownership.

(a) Owner's default in the performance of any of Owner's obligations under this Agreement on or before Closing shall entitle Seller to terminate
this Agreement immediately and all of Owner's rights, benefits, and privileges hereunder. Upon such termination, Seller shall cause Escrow Agent to
deliver to Seller, all sums of money previously paid by Owner hereunder as liquidated damages and not as a penalty as Seller's exclusive remedy for
Owner's default. To the extent Owner has paid any assessments or other amounts to the Association prior to Closing, those amounts shall also be
forfeited and retained by the Association.

(b) If Owner fails to timely perform any of Owner's obligations under this Agreement or the Club Instruments after Closing, Owner shall be in
default and Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder may enforce the Seller Security Interest (as described in Section 15 of this Agreement) against Owner's
Ownership (and the proceeds thereof) in accordance with this Agreement. Upon the occurrence of any such failure, Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder
shall give Owner written notice thereof and if Owner has not cured the applicable failure within thirty (30) days after Seller or any Holder or
Co-Holder gives such notice, Owner shall be in default under this Agreement and Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder may enforce the Seller Security
Interest in accordance with Section 15 below.

15. Remedies/Security Interest. To secure compliance with Owner's obligations hereunder, Owner her grants Seller and any Holder or
Co-Holder a security interest ("Seller Security Interest") in the Ownership purchased under this Agreement nd ll pro eds therefrom (collectively
the "Collateral"). The Seller Security Interest constitutes a lien on the Collateral. The Seller Security nterest a d lien shal remain in effect as long as
there are obligations of Owner in favor of Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder to be fulfilled und this Ag emen No wa er by Seller, the Association,
or any Holder or Co-Holder of this Agreement, of any default or breach by Owner shall rate as a waive of th same or y other default or breach
by Owner or any other party listed as owner in the future. Each Owner signing below ereby appoi ts each the Owner signing below as his or her
agent for dealing with Seller and any Holder or Co-Holder of this Agreement for ny purp se U on the occurren of a default described in Section 14
above, Seller or any Holder or Co-Holder of this Agreement may choose to the extent rmitted by applicable law, one or more of the following
remedies: (a) declare the entire unpaid balance of the Purchase Price and P ocessin Fee immediately ue and payable, unless prohibited by law; (b)
foreclose the lien created by the Seller Security Interest and sell or retain th Owner ip in s tisf tion of Owner's obligations hereunder, or exercise
any other right under Article 9 of the applicable Uniform Comm rcial Cod (c) term ate the Ownership and retain all amounts previously paid by
Owner as compensation for damages incurred in p oceeding pursu nt to t s Agreem nt (Seller and Owner agree that in such case it would be
impractical or extremely difficult to fix the actual d mage and therefore, the mounts previously paid by Owner are a fair and reasonable estimate of
Seller's actual damages for such default); (d) suspen use rights, including, t not limited to, cancelling any existing and future reservations; (e) sue
for the unpaid balance due hereunder; (f) y req est to transfer Owner's Ownership and Points in the Club Ownership Register; and/or (g) pursue
any other remedy allowed by law pt Seller c ot terminate this Agreement or foreclose against the Ownership without the consent of the Holder
or Co-Holder of any right to e unpaid alance due reunder.

16. Additional Creditor. T right o receive payment of the Purchase Price and Processing Fee under this Agreement belongs to Seller, but could be
assigned, col aterally o absol ly, to another creditor (such creditor is referred to herein as a "Holder" or "Co-Holder"). This Agreement, together
with all se urity interests, ights f enforcement and payment due hereunder, is freely assignable by Seller, its successors and assigns.

NOTICE:

ANY HOL ER OF TH S CONSUMER CREDIT CONTRACT IS SUBJECT TO ALL CLAIMS AND DEFENSES WHICH THE DEBTOR
(OWNER) CO LD SSERT AGAINST THE SELLER OF GOODS OR SERVICES OBTAINED PURSUANT HERETO OR WITH THE
PROCE DS HEREOF. RECOVERY HEREUNDER BY THE DEBTOR (OWNER) SHALL NOT EXCEED AMOUNTS PAID BY THE
DEBTOR (OWNER) HEREUNDER.

1 General Provisions. Except as otherwise set forth under Section 42 entitled "Purchaser's Nonwaivable Right to Cancel" below, any written notice
required or desired to be given hereunder shall be deemed given when personally delivered or after three (3) days deposit in the U.S. Mail, first class
postage prepaid or one (1) day after acceptance by a nationally recognized overnight courier service, addressed to the address given herein or such
subsequent address as is given by proper notice or when sent by facsimile to any facsimile number given by one party to the other. This Agreement,
and any and all other documents executed at the same time as this Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto. No
representation or warranties, oral or written, other than the representations set forth in said documents, have been relied upon by the parties. Except as
otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall be binding upon and benefit the heirs, executors, administrators and successors of each of the parties.
If any provision of this Agreement shall be found to be invalid, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement shall survive the issuance of the Ownership and the Ownership Certificate
and the registration thereof in the Club Ownership Register and shall survive the final payment toward the purchase hereunder.

18. Owner Responsibility. Transfer or abandonment of the Ownership does not relieve Owner of Owner's obligations hereunder unless such transfer
or abandonment of the Ownership is agreed to by the Association, the Seller and/or any Holder or Co-Holder of any right to the unpaid balance due
under this Agreement.

19. Modifications and Changes. Seller reserves the right to make changes in the Club Instruments for the purpose of correcting errors in the
preparation and filing of all documents relating to the Club where necessary to establish the validity and enforceability of the Club Instruments. Seller
reserves the right to add additional real property interests to the Club as provided in the Club Instruments. Seller further reserves the right to make
clerical or typographical corrections in any documents related to this Agreement.
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F. ASSESSMENTS - ASSOCIATION'S SECURITY INTEREST

20. Regular Assessments. The current annual Regular Assessment for Owner's Ownership is $6,496.96 (U.S. Funds), based on the formula and rate
of annual Regular Assessments currently established by the Association pursuant to the Club Instruments. Regular Assessments may be increased
annually subject to the Club Instruments. Regular Assessments shall be used for Club Costs, including maintenance and operation of Club
Accommodations (including for reserves) and operation and management of the Club, all as more particularly described in the Club Instruments.

21. Special Assessments and Taxes. The Association may levy special assessments subject to the Club Instruments. The Owner is also responsible
for any tax that might be assessed by a civil taxing authority on the purchase of Owner's Ownership or the use of any Club Accommodations.

For the purpose of ad valorem assessment, taxation and special assessments, the managing entity will be considered the taxpayer as your
agent pursuant to Section 192.037, Florida Statutes.

22. Individual Charges. Owner must pay separately for extra benefits including, but not limited to, if available, food, storage, extra maid service,
purchase of goods, use of equipment, furnishings or facilities not normally provided as part of the Club Accommodation or the Club Property in which
it is located, and exchange program services if available.

23. No Warranties. SELLER MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR WAR ANTY CONCERNING THE CLUB
ACCOMMODATIONS OR CLUB PROPERTIES, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTIE STATUTORY R OTHERWISE, OF
HABITABILITY, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURP SE, EX EPT AS MAY B REQUIRED BY LAW
AS OF THE DATE HEREOF. ACCORDINGLY, ANY REPAIRS TO THE CLUB ACCOMMODATIONS OR CL B PROPERTIES NOT
COVERED BY RESERVES MAY RESULT IN A SPECIAL ASSESSMENT.

24. Damage Charges. Owner must pay, as an Individual Charge, any cost f rep r or rep cement for any damage caused by Owner, Owner's family
or guests, or anyone else that Owner allows or permits to occupy a Club Acc mmoda on dur g Owne ' reserved use period.

25. Association's Remedies/Security Interest. To secure comp nce with he Club I struments, Owner hereby grants to the Association a Security
Interest (the "Association Security Interest") in Ow er's Ownership d all roceeds thereof (i.e., the Collateral), which Association Security Interest
is subject to and subordinate to the Seller Security nterest. The Assoc tio Security Interest shall remain in effect as long as Owner's Ownership
remains in effect. Upon a breach by, or failure of, Owner to perform any of wner's obligations under the Club Instruments, which breach or failure
extends beyond any notice, cure and/or gra erio specifically provided for in the Club Instruments, the Association may, among other things (the
Club Instruments describe all th Associatio rights and remedies for an Owner default thereunder): (a) foreclose the lien provided by the
Association Security Intere , subject to ny Seller S urity Interest then in existence, and sell or retain Owner's Ownership in satisfaction of Owner's
obligations to the Associa n or exer se any other ght under Article 9 of the applicable Uniform Commercial Code; (b), if the Seller Security
Interest no longe xists, ter inate he Ownership; (c) suspend the Owner's rights to use the Points ascribed to Owner's Ownership and in certain
instances, th Owner s ights occupy a Club Accommodation for which the Owner had previously obtained a reservation; (d) sue the Owner
personally or all amount due t the Association; (e) deny request to transfer Owner's Ownership and Points in the Club Ownership Register: and/or
(f) pursue ny other right rem y allowed by law, subject, however, to the Seller Security Interest (if still in effect) and subject to the terms and
pro sions f the Club Inst ments.

G. PURCHASE PRICE, FINANCE CHARGE, AND PAYMENTS

26. Pur hase Price. Owner agrees to pay Seller the Purchase Price in U.S. Funds (less other Credits/Discounts) together with a Closing Fee, a
d ent processing fee ("Processing Fee") described in Section 29 Credit Terms and the credit service charge ("Finance Charge") as described in
Section 30 below. Payments shall be credited first on the interest then due, then on principal. Interest will begin to accrue on the date hereof. This
Installment Contract provides for an interest rate of Eleven 49/100 (11.49%) per annum. This amount is required to be included in the
calculation of the Annual Percentage Rate and Finance Charge.

27. Closing Fee. Owner agrees to pay a $30.00 Closing Fee, which Seller will pay to First American Title Insurance Company.

28. Processing Fee. Owner understands and agrees to pay Seller a Processing Fee of $349.00 which is charged to all buyers whether paying in cash or
buying on credit to cover various processing services related to the sale including administration and preparation of various documents related to the
sale. These services are separate and distinct from the services that Seller performs as settlement agent. Together, the Purchase Price, Processing Fee,
Closing Fee and Finance Charge constitute the "Total Sale Price".
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Contract Number 00219-1600048

33. Termination of Agreement with Blocked Persons. Under United States Presidential Executive Order 13224 (the "Executive Order"), Seller is
required to ensure that it does not transact business with persons or entities determined to have committed, or pose a risk of committing or supporting,
terrorist acts and those identified on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons (the "List"), generated by the Office of Foreign
Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. The names or aliases of these persons or entities ("Blocked Persons") are updated from time
to time. In the event Seller learns that Owner's name appears on the List, Seller reserves the right to delay the Closing pending Seller's investigation
into the matter. If Seller is advised and/or determines that Owner is a Blocked Person, Seller reserves the right to terminate this Agreement and/or to
take all other actions necessary to comply with the requirements of the Executive Order. The provisions of this Section will survive Closing and/or
termination of this Agreement.

34. Purchase Money Protection. All payments made by the Owner shall be protected by a surety bond held by First American Title Insurance
Company, 2300 Maitland Center Parkway, Suite 201, Maitland, Florida 32751 ("Escrow Agent"), from the date of sale until Closing has occurred.

35. Vacation Interest Policy. Owner will be provided a vacation interest insurance policy covering the Ownership at no additional charge.

36. Definition of Terms. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined within this Agreement shall have the meaning given to them in the Club
Instruments.

37. Electronic Signatures. Owner(s) agrees that if this Agreement is signed electronically by the Owner(s), it s transfe able record.

38. Refund. In the event Owner cancels this Contract during the ten (10) day cancellation p iod, S ller wi refun to Owner all payments made
under this Agreement. Refund shall be made to Owner by Seller within twenty (20) days er Seller's re ipt o notice o ncellation, or within five
(5) days after Seller's receipt of funds from Owner's cleared check, whichever is later.

39. Multisite Plan Documents. The developer is required to provide th Man ng Entity of the multisite timeshare plan with a
copy of the approved Public Offering Statement text and exhibit filed ith th division nd any approved amendments thereto,
and any other component site documents as described in Section 721.07 r Sect n 7 1.55 Florida Statutes, that are not required
to be filed with the division, to be maintained by the Ma ging En ity for in pection as part of the books and records of the plan.

40. Resale. Any resale of this timeshare inter st must be accompan ed by certain disclosures in accordance with Section 721.065,
Florida Statutes.

41. Receipt for Documents. N TIC TO BUY R (OWNER):

Owner acknowl dges th t the Owner has received a completed copy of this Agreement, required Public Offering Statement,
Club Arti es, Club y-law , Declaration prototype and guidelines, and that the Owner has been given a satisfactory opportunity
to read t is Agreemen

(a) Do no ign this Ag eement before you read it or if it contains any blank spaces.

(b) You re entitled to an exact copy of the Agreement you sign at the time you sign it. Keep it to protect your legal rights.
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42. "Purchaser's Nonwaivable Right to Cancel".
You may cancel this Agreement without any penalty or obligation within ten (10) calendar days after the
date you sign this Agreement or the date on which you receive the last of all documents required to be given
to you pursuant to section 721.07 (6), Florida Statutes, whichever is later. If you decide to cancel this
Agreement, you must notify the Seller in writing of your intent to cancel. Your notice of cancellation shall be
effective upon the date sent and shall be sent to Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc., Attention: Account
Servicing Operations - Rescission Department at: P.O. Box 94443, Las Vegas, Nevada 89193 or 10750 West
Charleston Boulevard, Suite 130, Las Vegas, Nevada 89135. Any attempt to obtain a waiver of your
cancellation right is void and of no effect. While you may execute all Closing documents in advance, the
Closing, as evidenced by delivery of the deed or other document, before expiration of your ten (10) day
cancellation period, is prohibited.*

X
Owner (Legal name as appears on valid identification) Date Signed

Windy Kelley Paula Litton
Print Name

X
Owner (Legal name as appears on valid identification) Date Signed

Cara Kelley
Print Name

Street Address

Joint and several if more than one Owner

WYNDHAM VACATION RESORTS, INC. and
PTVO Owners Association, Inc.

City State Zip

X
Authorized Agent Date Signed

Phone (area code)

Email Address

Principal Contact

*"Notify" shall mean that a written notice of cancellation is delivered, by any means which may include certified mail return receipt requested, to WYNDHAM VACATION RESORTS,
INC. Any notice of cancellation shall be considered given on the date postmarked if mailed, or when transmitted from the place of origin if telegraphed. If given by means of a writing
transmitted other than by mail or telegraph, the notice of cancellation shall be considered given at the time of delivery at the place of business of the Seller.
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CLUB WYNDHAM Plus®

VACATION OWNERSHIP ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT
AND USE RESTRICTION

ClubWyndham Access 00219-1600048
Contract Number

THIS VACATION OWNERSHIP ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT AND USE RESTRICTION ("Assignment Agreement") is made
this 5th day of January, 2016, by and between Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, whose address is 6277
Sea Harbor Dr. Orlando, FL 32821 ("Plan Manager"), and WINDY KELLEY PAULA LITTON and CARA KELLEY
("Owner").

WHEREAS, the Second Amended and Restated FairShare Vacation Plan Use Management Trust Agreement effective March
14, 2008, recorded or to be recorded in various jurisdictions including in the Office of the Circuit Clerk in Cleburne County, Arkansas,
which document is incorporated herein by reference, as amended from time to time ("Trust Agreement"), sets forth the terms,
restrictions and conditions of the FairShare Vacation Plan ("Plan") described therein as well as the obligations of the Plan Manager
to those owners who have subjected their property to the Trust Agreement by assigning the use, occupancy and possessory rights in
such property to the FairShare Vacation Plan Use Management Trust ("Trust") or who acquire property which has been previously
subjected to the Trust Agreement and whose use, occupancy and possessory rights have previously been assigned to the Trust, all in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan; and

WHEREAS, Owner is the purchaser of an ownership interest ("Ownership") in the ClubWyndham Access Vacation Ownership
Plan (the "Club") which entitles Owner to use Owner's points to reserve the use of accommodations in the Club as described in the
ClubWyndham Access Vacation Ownership Plan Retail Installment Contract Purchase and Security Agreement ("Contract")
#00219-1600048; and

WHEREAS, the Owner desires to subject the above-described ownership interest to the Trust Agreement and assign the use,
occupancy and possessory rights in said Ownership to the Trust, all in accordance with the terms, restrictions and conditions of the
Plan as set forth in the Trust Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of $Fee Waived, paid by Owner to Plan Manager, and the mutual promises contained
herein and in furtherance of the commitment by Owner of the Ownership to the Plan, the parties agree as follows:

1. Except as otherwise provided herein, capitalized terms shall have the same definition as set forth in t e Trust Agreement. This
Assignment Agreement, as well as the interest of the Trustee set forth herein, shall be subject the prio rights in the Contract of
any mortgagee or secured party. Nothing contained herein shall contravene the obligation of wn r und r his Contract or under
any note and mortgage/trust deed or security agreement ("Financing Documents executed in nne tion with the Owner's
purchase of the Property.

2. Owner hereby subjects the Ownership to the Trust Agreement and as gns the use, occu an y and possessory rights in the
Ownership to the Trust, to be administered in accordance with the terms, rest ctions and conditions set forth in the Trust
Agreement, and agrees that the Owner's Use Rights shall be subjec o the rm and provisions of same.

3. Plan Manager shall assign Owner 1,264,000 Points ("Points as d ined in the Tru Agreement, which Points shall be used
through the CLUB WYNDHAM Plus Program to reserve ac ommo tions b ected to the Trust in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Agreement. Said Points are symbolic o he value of Owner's Use Rights and are to be used in each full
year.

4. Notwithstanding the assignment of the u e, occupancy and p s essory rights in the Ownership to the Trust, Owner shall retain
his voting right in the PTVO ners A sociation ("HOA") identified in the Contract for the period of time this Assignment
Agreement is effective.

5. Owner hereby a ees to pa to the Tr st on behalf of the Association an annual CLUB WYNDHAM Plus Assessment
("Assessment") f certain xpenses attrib table to the Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement, which
annual A sment hall nclude Owner's share of the expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of the Plan,
here nafter refe ed to as the "Program Fee" and may include Owner's proportionate share of Owner's Regular Assessment
attr butable to his Own ship, hereinafter referred to as the "HOA Fee." Said annual Assessment shall be payable annually in
ad ance in either ne in tallment or in monthly installments pursuant to an approved Auto Pay Plan. The Plan Manager on
beh lf of Trustee hall cause the above referenced HOA Fee portion of the Assessment to be deposited into a CLUB WYNDHAM
Plus scrow Acc unt until such funds become due and are delivered to Owner's HOA. Owner hereby authorizes the Trustee or
its assig t ithdraw the HOA Fee described above from and out of the CLUB WYNDHAM Plus Escrow Account and pay same
ov r to the HOA named in paragraph 4 above so long as said Ownership is subjected to the Plan.

6. Owner, by subjecting the Ownership to the Trust Agreement and assigning the use, occupancy and possessory rights in the
Ownership to the Trust, becomes a member of the FairShare Vacation Owners Association ("Association") and as such agrees
to abide by all requirements set forth in the Articles and Bylaws of the Association. Owner also has the right to vote his interest
as a member of the Association.

7. Owner hereby transfers his use and occupancy rights in and to the Ownership to the Trust for the period of time this Assignment
Agreement is effective and accordingly grants to the Trustee and the Plan Manager the right to assign the possession and use
rights of the Ownership on an annual basis or biennial basis, if applicable, to other Owners in the Plan in return for Owner's Use
Rights to utilize the CLUB WYNDHAM Plus Program of exchange in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Trust
Agreement.

8. This Assignment Agreement shall become effective on the date first written above.

9. This Assignment Agreement and all rights granted hereunder may be terminated by Owner, or by Owner's successors or
assigns, at any time; however, any such termination shall be subject to any outstanding reservations. Election to terminate will
be noted but all reservations existing as of the termination date will be honored. No new reservations will be accepted on or after
the termination date. If this Assignment Agreement is terminated, future access to the Plan will require approval of the Plan
Manager and include a conversion fee. If not terminated sooner, termination will occur on the earlier of the following dates:

(a) termination of the Club in which the Ownership is associated in accordance with the underlying declarations, covenants
and restrictions establishing said Club;

(b) termination of the Plan;
(c) termination by the Trustee after Trustee has determined that the accommodations of the Club have been rendered

unsuitable for continued use in the Plan;
(d) termination by Trustee after Trustee has determined that the Contract has been cancelled based on Owner's default; or
(e) termination by Trustee after Trustee has determined that Owner's CLUB WYNDHAM Plus Account is delinquent and

Owner has failed to cure such delinquency in accordance with the Governing Instruments and as provided by Trustee.

Upon termination, Owner's Points will be extinguished and Owner will no longer have the right to make reservations in
accommodations subjected to the Trust Agreement and all use, occupancy and possessory rights in the Ownership shall
automatically revert to the Owner.
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Contract No. 00219-1600048

10. This Assignment Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Trust Agreement shall be binding upon the Owner, his heirs,
successors and assigns, provided, however, the application of this covenant on the Ownership may be terminated in accordance
with paragraph 9 above, or shall terminate automatically if and when the Ownership shall be held by the developer, seller or
Wyndham Vacation Resorts, Inc. ("Wyndham") subsequent to conveyance to Owner.

11. Upon termination of this Assignment Agreement or in the event Owner defaults on his obligation under his Contract or under his
Financing Documents resulting in the termination of said Contract or the acquisition of the Ownership by his mortgagee or
secured party, this Assignment Agreement shall be deemed terminated and cancelled and all rights of the Owner hereunder shall
cease. Upon such termination Plan Manager shall cause the use, occupancy and possessory rights in the Ownership to be
re-assigned back to Owner or his acquiring mortgagee/secured party, subject to any Owner commitments or confirmed
reservations by another Plan participant which may have been made pursuant to the Plan. Any fees due the Trust by Owner shall
be deducted from the assessments made by Owner at the date of termination. Upon such termination, all benefits and
obligations of Owner under his Contract and Financing Documents shall continue in force and effect.

12. The CLUB WYNDHAM Plus VIP Program ("VIP Program") and its accompanying benefits are made available by Wyndham to
CLUB WYNDHAM Plus members who have achieved certain eligibility criteria as set forth in the CLUB WYNDHAM Plus
Member's Directory ("Member's Directory"). Only Points associated with the Ownerships purchased directly from or through
Wyndham or Points associated with other vacation ownership interests with developer or management affiliations with Wyndham
are eligible to be counted toward VIP eligibility. See the current Member's Directory for the minimum Points required to
participate in the VIP Program. In the event Owner subsequently sells the Ownership to a third party purchaser, the Points
associated with the Ownership will not be eligible to be counted toward VIP eligibility by such purchaser. Wyndham, in its sole
discretion, with or without prior notice, may unilaterally expand or limit the point eligibility criteria for the VIP Program. The sale
of the Ownership to a third party purchaser does not automatically transfer to such purchaser any CLUB WYNDHAM Plus
benefits.

13. The parties hereto agree to execute any additional instruments which may be necessary or convenient to carry out the intent and
purpose of this Assignment Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seals on the day and year fir t bove w tten.

OWNER: WYNDHAM VACATIO RESORTS, INC , PLAN MANAGER
(Legal name as appears on valid identification)

PRINT NAME: Windy Kelley Paula Litton B :
Auth rized Representative

OWNER:
(Legal name as appears on valid identification)

PRINT NAME: Cara Kelley
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